IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WAL-MART STORES, INC. AND NATIONAL UNION FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY OF PITTSBURGH, PA

EMPLOYER/CARRIER/APPELLANT

V.

CASE NO. 2007-WC-00539

TERESA G. PATRICK

CLAIMANT/APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TATE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR THE EMPLOYER AND CARRIER/APPELLANT

ROXANNE P. CASE (MSB MICHELLE B. MIMS (MSB WILKINS, STEPHENS & TIPTON Post Office Box 13429 Jackson, Mississippi 39236-3429 Tel.: 601/366-4343 Fax: 601/981-7608 Attorneys for Employer and Carrier/Appellants

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WAL-MART STORES, INC. AND NATIONAL UNION FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY OF PITTSBURGH, PA

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

THE FINDINGS OF THE FULL COMMISSION AND THE CIRCUIT COURT THAT THE CLAIMANT IS PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED ARE BASED UPON A MISAPPLICATION OF LAW AND NOT SUPPORTED BY THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND AS A RESULT ARE IN ERROR.

- 1. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE COMMISSION'S FINDING THAT THE CLAIMANT WAS PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED.
- 2. UNDER THE LAST INJURIOUS EXPOSURE RULE, WAL-MART SHOULD NOT BE LIABLE FOR THE CLAIMANT'S ENTIRE COMPENSATION AFTER THE CLAIMANT REACHED MMI FOR THE WORK RELATED INJURY ON JULY 28, 1997.
- 3. THE CLAIMANT FAILED TO SATISFY THE REQUISITE BURDEN OF PROOF IN REGARD TO THE MEDICAL EVIDENCE PRESENTED TO CAUSALLY RELATE THE CLAIMANT'S MEDICAL CARE POST SECOND AND THIRD SURGERY PROVIDED BY DR. PATEL.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Teresa Patrick has alleged a work-related injury which occurred on July 28, 1997. This was originally a denied claim; however, a hearing was held on September 14, 1999, in this matter before Administrative Judge Linda A. Thompson, following which Judge Thompson found that the Claimant had been found to have sustained a work-related injury and ordered that the Employer and Carrier pay temporary total disability benefits at the rate of \$187.01 per week, beginning July 8, 1998, and continuing until June 9, 1999, with credit for any wages earned by the Claimant during this time. (AJ Thompson Order, p. 11); See Record Excerpt 8. A determination of permanent occupational disability or loss of wage earning capacity was reserved until a later date by the Administrative Judge. (Id. at 11-12); See Record Excerpt 8.

The second hearing was held on July 14, 2005, on the issue of causation of the Claimant's subsequent injuries and extent of disability. Prior to the hearing, the parties stipulated that the Claimant sustained a work accident on July 28, 1997, injuring her lower back, that her average weekly wage was \$280.51 and that the Claimant was paid \$9,649.29 in disability benefits from July 8, 1998, until November 2, 1999, at a rate of \$187.01 per week. (AJ Harthcock Order, p. 1-2); See Record Excerpt 7.

The testimony demonstrated that Ms. Patrick finished at least the tenth grade in high school and has made attempts to obtain her GED, actually passing all but the essay portion of the GED. (R. 13, Vol. 3). She also has taken classes in conjunction with passing this test. Id. In regard to her work history, prior to working for Wal-Mart, she has testified that she was employed with Hollywood Casino as a slot attendant, and at Pyroil, a chemical plant, for ten years where she operated machines, worked on the lines, packed boxes, and drove a forklift. (R. 14-16, 48 and 52, Vol. 3). While working for Wal-Mart, she has testified that she worked as a grocery stocker and in

-2-

the accounting office. (R. 16-17, 19-21, Vol. 3).

The Claimant's testimony during the hearing demonstrated that post injury, after being released by Dr. Clark, she returned to work for the Employer. (R. 28-30, 53-54, Vol. 3). She testified she attempted to perform her work until she voluntarily terminated her employment with Wal-Mart. (R. 44-45, Vol. 3). She testified that, after working for Wal-Mart, she was able to find employment with several employers and earn wages at the same level as her employment with Wal-Mart. (R. 140, Vol. 3; AJ Harthcock Order, p. 3); See Record Excerpt 7. In 1999, she began to work for Allied Enterprises, a Vocational Rehabilitation facility. (R. 34-36, Vol. 3). She explained in the initial hearing as found by Judge Thompson:

she is taking course through Vocational Rehabilitation to get her GED certificate, and she hopes to go on to take some college courses. She explained that she is interested in bettering her employment status through education.

(R. 35, 41-42, Vol. 3; AJ Thompson Order, p. 5); See Record Excerpt 8.

The Claimant testified that she also was able to obtain employment with a retail clothing store named Elemo Pea in 2000. (R. 147, Vol. 3). According to the Claimant, this was only a parttime position as a sales clerk which allowed her to earn approximately \$5.95 per hour and eventually, she earned \$7.50 per hour. (R. 147-48, Vol. 3). She testified that she would work approximately two to five hours per day, three days per week. Id. She acknowledged that she was required to perform some managerial functions and in fact, was left in charge of the store on many occasions. (R. 148, Vol. 3). When she completed a subsequent employment application at Portrait Studio, it was confirmed that she informed Portrait Studio/PCA that she was working for Elemo Pea as a *manager earning* \$7.50 per hour when she left. (R. 147, Vol. 3). The Claimant further confirmed that she had worked for Elemo Pea from September 2, 2000, through March 18, 2001, when the store closed. Id.

Ms. Patrick testified that she worked for Portrait Studio/PCA after her work injury. (R. 109, 140-44, Vol. 3). She testified that she worked as a photographer in Senatobia, Olive Branch and Southaven, Mississippi. (R. 141, Vol. 3). In addition, the Claimant testified that she was required to process orders, including taking money from customers and changing the film. (R. 109, 140-41, Vol. 3). She explained that she was trained on the job for this employment. Id. She further explained that the position had allowed her to work approximately eight hours a day, five days a week, and she earned approximately \$8.00 per hour. (R. 142, Vol. 3). Ms. Patrick testified that her PCA personnel file demonstrated that she was hired for this position at the end of August, 2001, and she voluntarily resigned from this job at the end of October, 2001. (R. 109, Vol. 3). The Claimant maintained that she was not aware of the fact that she was actually hired to perform a managerial job with this company, however, she eventually acknowledged that she was at least working toward a manager position. (R. 144, Vol. 3). The Claimant confirmed that the personnel records submitted and introduced from Portrait Studio indicated that the Employer categorized the Claimant as a manager. Id.

The Claimant introduced several job search lists in support of her claim for disability. (Claimant Exh. 10). The Claimant admitted that the initial job search from June 26, 2001, through August 24, 2001, resulted in a successful job search in that she was ultimately hired by Portrait Studio. (R. 140, 154, Vol. 3).

The Claimant further testified that Dr. Clark was her treating physician as a result of the original work-related injury. (R. 155, Vol. 4). She acknowledged that he released her to return to work with restrictions following her first surgery. <u>Id</u>. She further acknowledged that he released her to return on an as needed basis. <u>Id</u>.

-4-

The Claimant testified that her second surgery and corresponding medical care for same was with Dr. Jerry Engelberg. (R. 156, Vol. 4). She admitted that the second surgery was performed as a result of a disc herniation and resulting right sided problems, whereas the first surgery was for a herniation with resulting left sided problems. <u>Id</u>. She further testified that at the time she began treatment with Dr. Engelberg, she was, and had been, working at Elemo Pea. (R. 158, Vol. 4). She admitted that she had not been working at Wal-Mart when those symptoms necessitating the second or third surgery began. (R. 158-59, Vol. 4).

The Claimant further acknowledged that Morris Selby, a vocational rehabilitation specialist, met with her on one occasion. (R. 159, Vol. 4). She admitted that he did not help her with her interviewing skills. (R. 160, Vol. 4). She admitted that he did not help her to find other employment. <u>Id</u>. She admitted that he did not help her pinpoint what employers would be best from whom to seek employment, given her employment history, current restrictions, and capabilities. <u>Id</u>. She further admitted that she did not recall asking him to help her return to the work force. <u>Id</u>.

The Claimant further testified that she did suffer from other medical conditions, including a heart condition and a cervical herniation for which she was wearing a cervical collar during the time that she was evaluated by Mr. Selby in November, 2004. (R. 161-63, Vol. 4). She testified that, although she informed Mr. Selby that she was required to wear this collar at all times, except when she bathed and slept, she would take the collar off whenever she visited potential employers. (R. 163, Vol. 4). According to the Claimant, she would take it off in the car before she entered the place of business to apply for work. She felt that none of the employers would see her do this. (R. 164, Vol. 4).

Dr. Craig Clark's medical records were submitted into evidence at the initial hearing. (General Exh. 8). Dr. Clark is a neurosurgeon. Judge Thompson's previous Order summarized Dr. Clark's medical records at the time of the initial hearing. Judge Thompson found that Dr. Clark "testified that assuming Ms. Patrick gave an accurate history, the disc rupture was caused by the lifting injury at Wal-Mart." (AJ Thompson Order, p. 9); See Record Excerpt 8. Administrative Judge Thompson further found that as of June 7, 1999, Dr. Clark had found that the Claimant had reached maximum medical improvement and found the following:

> He gave a permanent impairment rating of 10% to the body as a whole. Dr. Clark said the 30 pound lifting restriction should not be required to be permanent, that she should gradually lift more. He thought she should probably avoid bending and should be given the opportunity to sit or stand. Dr. Clark noted the functional capacity evaluation showed Ms. Patrick could lift twenty-five pounds.

(AJ Thompson Order, p. 9); See Record Excerpt 8.

Dr. Clark's records reflect that the Claimant did not see him after June 7, 1999, until August 23, 2000, (General Exh. 8, Dr. Clark's 8-23-00 note). At that time, Dr. Clark noted that the Claimant "has recently experienced increasing pain in the low back and left hip." Id. Dr. Clark went on to note that the Claimant had no lower extremity complaints. He recommended conservative care and to return in two weeks. Id. On September 11, 2000, she continued to complain of pain, although he found no evidence of radiculopathy. (General Exh. 8, Dr. Clark's 9-11-00 note); See Record

Excerpt 9. Dr. Clark commented at that time:

She has previously undergone surgery at L5-S1 and one would wonder whether this constitutes really new pain or the same pain she was having at the point of her maximum medical improvement. Because of the insistence of the changes and the difference in her pain syndrome, we will proceed with a MRI of the lumbar spine with contrast.

Id.; See Record Excerpt 9.

On October 9, 2000, Dr. Clark reviewed the MRI which had been performed. He found there was no evidence at that time of a recurrent HNP or remarkable neural compression. (General Exh.

8, Dr. Clark's 10-9-00 note); See Record Excerpt 9. On November 6, 2000, Dr. Clark reiterated that the Claimant had minimal scarring and nothing present that would require surgery. (General Exh.
8, Dr. Clark's 11-6-00 note); See Record Excerpt 9.

On January 6, 2001, Dr. Clark opined that the Claimant's continued complaints since previously being placed at maximum medical improvement on June 7, 1999, were "a simple exacerbation of the same pre-existing complaints." (General Exh. 8, Dr. Clark's 1-6-01 letter); <u>See Record Excerpt 9</u>. Dr. Clark had found that after examining her on August 23, September 11, October 9, and November 6, 2000, she had no evidence of any new changes or any recurrent or residual neural compression. <u>Id.; See Record Excerpt 9</u>. Dr. Clark also provided an opinion that her work restrictions were essentially unchanged and should now be considered "permanent restrictions". <u>Id.; See Record Excerpt 9</u>.

By the Claimant's own testimony, she was treating with Dr. Patel, a general practitioner. Dr. Patel's records have been introduced via affidavit as Claimant Exhibit 12, and demonstrate that he treated her for various ailments, illnesses and complaints for numerous injuries and issues, both pre and post injury. Specifically, in January of 2001, she was seen with pneumonia. (Claimant Exh. 12, Dr. Patel 1-8-01 note). She was seen again on January 16, 2001, for follow up of pneumonia and left shoulder problems. (Claimant Exh. 12, Dr. Patel 1-16-01 note). On February 6, 2001, Dr. Patel's note documents that she returned, complaining that she "started to cough again!" (Claimant Exh. 12, Dr. Patel 2-6-01 note). She was seen again on February 7, 2001, indicating that the medicine was not helping. (Claimant Exh. 12, Dr. Patel 2-7-01 note). On February 20, 2001, she came back and reported back pain with right leg pain, which Dr. Patel diagnosed as acute. (Claimant Exh. 12, Dr. Patel 2-20-01 note). By February 26, she reported she still had the cough and back

pain. (Claimant Exh. 12, Dr. Patel 2-26-01 note).

By March 6, 2001, Dr. Patel felt Ms. Patrick's complaints of lower back pain on the right, radiating into the right leg, necessitated the need for an MRI. (Claimant Exh. 12, Dr. Patel 3-6-01 note). The MRI was performed and on March 8, 2001, Dr. Patel diagnosed a ruptured disc at L5-S1. (Claimant Exh. 12, Dr. Patel 3-8-01 note). His note of that date documents he referred her to Dr. Jerry Engelberg, a neurosurgeon, even though the Claimant had already been treated by a neurosurgeon, Dr. Clark, who was also referred by Dr. Patel. <u>Id</u>.

Dr. Jerry Engelberg's deposition was taken and has been submitted into evidence as Employer and Carrier Exhibit 13. Dr. Engelberg testified that he first saw Ms. Patrick on March 16, 2001, on referral from Dr. Patel. (E/C Exh. 13, p. 6, 8). He testified regarding his examination and that, upon review of the MRI and exam, he felt there to be nerve entrapment on the right side and, accordingly, recommended they move forward with surgery at L-5. (E/C Exh. 13, p. 10, 12). He testified that the surgery occurred on April 5, 2001, and following this surgery, he continued to follow Ms. Patrick through May 11, 2001, at which point he released her to return on an as needed basis. (E/C Exh. 13, p. 11, 13).

In regard to work, Dr. Engelberg testified clearly that he was never told that this was a workrelated injury, and therefore, work or work status was not discussed. (E/C Exh. 13, p. 14); <u>See</u> <u>Record Excerpt 10</u>. He explained that Ms. Patrick informed him that she was a housewife, and thus he never made any notation regarding her work status. (E/C Exh. 13, p. 21-22); <u>See Record Excerpt</u> 10.

Dr. Engelberg confirmed that Ms. Patrick provided no history of a work-related injury. (E/C Exh. 13, p. 29); <u>See Record Excerpt 10</u>. Dr. Engelberg could not provide testimony based upon a reasonable degree of medical probability that the medical care that he provided treatment for to Ms.

Patrick was causally related to her work-related injury with Wal-Mart. (E/C Exh. 13, p. 21, 30-31); <u>See Record Excerpt 10</u>. In fact, Dr. Engelberg clearly testified that, given her history, it was likely that the condition for which he performed surgery would have occurred sometime after the Claimant saw Dr. Clark in 2000. (E/C Exh. 13, p. 17-18); <u>See Record Excerpt 10</u>.

Dr. Engelberg was questioned regarding whether or not one rupture could predispose an individual to additional ruptures at the same location. (E/C Exh. 13, p. 25). Dr. Engelberg testified that this would be speculative, and he could not provide an opinion based upon a reasonable degree of medical probability or certainty regarding that issue. (E/C Exh. 13, p. 26). Hence, the Claimant's unauthorized treating physician for the second surgery, a neurosurgeon, with Semmes-Murphy Clinic in Memphis, Tennessee, could not and would not relate the Claimant's treatment for which he was providing her care to her work-injury of July 28, 1997, based upon a reasonable degree of medical probability or certainty.

Dr. Engelberg did confirm that the medical care was filed under non-work-related insurance. He further confirmed that he made no referrals and that had Ms. Patrick contacted him about additional treatment, he would have been willing to see her. (E/C Exh. 13, p. 30).

The Claimant underwent a third surgery by Dr. Harry Friedman, yet another neurosurgeon who was unauthorized, as found by the Circuit Court. Dr. Friedman's medical records have been submitted under affidavit in this matter as Claimant Exhibit 11. The Claimant was referred to this third neurosurgeon by Dr. Patel. Dr. Friedman's records indicate that the Claimant had undergone another MRI on June 27, 2002, at the request of Dr. Patel, revealing a defect at the same level but with resulting right side pain. (Claimant Exh. 11, Dr. Friedman's 7-31-02 note; and Baptist Memorial Hospital 6-27-02 note). She was admitted for the third surgery by Dr. Friedman on July 31, 2002. (Claimant Exh. 11, Dr. Friedman's 7-31-02 note). In this admission note, Dr. Friedman

reviewed the Claimant's history and noted that Dr. Clark had done surgery for a symptomatic disc on the left. <u>Id</u>. He noted that later, she was diagnosed with another ruptured disc with right sided pain for which she ultimately had surgery by Dr. Engelberg. <u>Id</u>. Dr. Friedman noted that the third surgery, which he performed, was again for right sided symptoms. <u>Id</u>.

The Claimant's attorney sent the Claimant for an opinion with Dr. Rahul Vohra, a physical medicinc and pain specialist, and has submitted his deposition testimony as evidence in this matter as Claimant Exhibit 9. Dr. Vohra testified that he had seen the Claimant at the request of the Claimant's attorney originally in October, 2001. (Claimant Exh. 9, p. 3, 18). Dr. Vohra admitted during cross-examination that it was not his position to actually provide treatment to Ms. Patrick, but simply to provide opinions on causation, restrictions and ratings. (Claimant Exh. 9, p. 18). He also admitted that his bills had been paid by the Claimant's attorney. (Claimant Exh. 9, p. 19).

Dr. Vohra explained during their initial visit that Ms. Patrick reported that she had undergone surgery by Dr. Clark, as well as Dr. Engelberg. (Claimant Exh. 9, p. 4-5). In October, 2001, he testified that he found, upon exam, evidence of left S-1 radiculopathy, and additional worsening pain over the last several months prior to the visit. (Claimant Exh. 9, p. 7). He noted at that time a new onset of bladder incontinence. Id. He assigned a 12% impairment rating and was concerned over the increased complaints, including leg pain and bladder incontinence. (Claimant Exh. 9, p. 14, 18). He referred the Claimant to Dr. Charles Secrest for evaluation of the incontinence complaints. (Claimant Exh. 9, p. 19). Dr. Secrest found that these complaints were secondary to abnormal bladder neck contraction patterns, and he recommended treatment through medication. (Claimant Exh. 9, p. 10). Dr. Vohra testified he next saw the Claimant on February 11, 2002. He explained that, in his opinion, Dr. Secrest could not relate the bladder problems to the pain in her lumbar spine on either the right or left side. (Claimant Exh. 9, p. 11).

The Claimant was asked to return to Dr. Vohra on September 15, 2003, after her third surgery with Friedman. Id. At that time, Dr. Vohra believed her exam was essentially unchanged and static. (Claimant Exh. 9, p. 12).

During his deposition in November 2003, Dr. Vohra was asked several lengthy, hypothetical and speculative questions by the claimant's attorney regarding Dr. Vohra's opinion on whether or not the initial disc herniation and the resulting surgery caused or contributed to the recurrent disc rupture on the right side. (Claimant Exh. 9, p. 13); <u>See Record Excerpt 11</u>. Dr. Vohra testified there was no way to say with certainty the cause of the second and third disc herniations but that, in his opinion, he could only say statistically speaking, that a percentage of patients can re-herniate. <u>Id.</u>; <u>See Record Excerpt 11</u>. Dr. Vohra testified during cross examination that he could not make this statement to a reasonable degree of medical certainty as to Ms. Patrick. (Claimant Exh. 9, p. 20); <u>See Record Excerpt 11</u>. He also acknowledged that the fact that the Claimant sustained the first herniation would not necessarily be the sole cause of any subsequent herniations. (Claimant Exh. 9, p. 20-21); <u>See Record Excerpt 11</u>.

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