## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. CV 2007-WC-00539

WAL-MART STORES, INC. AND NATIONAL UNION FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY OF PITTSBURGH, PA APPELLANTS/CROSS-APPELLEES

V.

TERESA G. PATRICK

APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

# ON APPEAL FROM THE ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TATE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

LAWRENCE J. HAKIM, ESQ. MS BAR NO.

CHARLIE BAGLAN & ASSOCIATES ATTORNEYS AT LAW 100 Public Square Post Office Box 1289 Batesville, MS 38606

Tel.: (662)563-9400 Fax: (662)563-4633

Email: info@baglanlaw.com

Counsel for Appellant/Cross-Appellee

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2007-WC-00539

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

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Generally, Appellate Courts must defer to decisions of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, so long as said decisions are based upon substantial evidence, are not erroneous as a matter of law, and are neither arbitrary nor capricious. Decisions of the Workers' Compensation Commission must not be overturned, even if the Appellate Court would have reached a different conclusion. An Appellate Court is not permitted to reweigh the evidence, but simply to ensure that substantial evidence undergirds the Commission decision.

The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act is to be applied liberally in order to achieve its beneficent purposes on behalf of and for injured workers in this state. Teresa is only required to prove her case with a preponderance of the evidence and Teresa, in the instant case, has more than met her burden of showing that her original injury and L5-S1 disc rupture found by the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, to be compensable and caused or significantly contributed to her subsequent recurrent herniations.

Moreover, Teresa has shown, by a preponderance of the evidence, that as a result of her original work injury and the sequela of same, she is permanently and totally disabled within the intent and meaning of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act.

Finally, all medical treatment provided to Teresa as a result of her failed back syndrome was properly found by the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission to be reasonable and necessary, due to her work injury and the sequela of same. Therefore, the Circuit Court erred as a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Teresa exhibited every indication of being in a drug-induced stupor while at her hearing – her speech was sluggish, her demeanor downcast, and she periodically had to rest her head on her arms. This is not surprising given the known side effects of the medications she is prescribed to take as a result of her crippling work injury.

matter of law and fact when it reversed the Commission on this issue.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Judicial review of Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission decisions has consistently been viewed as extremely narrow. <u>Hale v. Ruleville Healthcare Center</u>, 687 So. 2d 1221 (Miss. 1991). As the Supreme Court of Mississippi has declared:

"[T]his Court and the Circuit Courts will not overturn a Commission decision unless said decision was arbitrary and capricious." <u>Id.</u> at 1225.

The Mississippi Supreme Court further proclaimed that a Circuit Court should only reverse the findings of the Commission in "rather extraordinary cases." <u>Id.</u> at 1224. If there is substantial evidence to support the Commission's finding these findings are conclusive on appeal "even though that evidence would not convince the Court was it the fact finder." <u>R.C. Petroleum</u>, <u>Inc. v. Hernandez</u>, 555 So. 2d 1017, 1021-1022 (Miss. 1990).

In <u>Walters Brother Builders v. Loomis</u>, 187 So. 2d 586 (Miss. 1966), the Court specially noted the applicability of the substantial evidence rule to the Appellate review of Commission rulings. The Court stated:

In reviewing the factual findings of the Workmen's Compensation Commission, the role of the Circuit Court is appellate and that Court must accept as established all those facts found by the Commission which the evidence proved, or reasonably tended to prove, or which might have been reasonably referred there from.

187 So. 2d at 589.

In Mississippi Workers' Compensation practice "substantial evidence" has been defined; inter alia as "something more than a mere scintilla of evidence. . . and that it does not rise to the level of a preponderance of the evidence." <u>Delta CMI v. Speck</u>, 586 So. 2d 768, 773 (Miss. 1991); <u>Babcock and Wilcox v. McClain</u>, 149 So. 2d 523 (Miss. 1991).

# B. TERESA PATRICK'S SUBSEQUENT L5-S1 DISC HERNIATIONS WERE CAUSALLY RELATED TO HER ORIGINAL WORK INJURY

To establish entitlement to benefits under workers' compensation, Teresa bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence each of the following elements of the claim:

- 1. An accidental injury occurred;
- 2. Arising out of and in the course of employment, and;
- 3. A causal connection between the injury and claimed disability.

Hedge v. Leggett & Platt, Inc., 641 So. 2d. 9, 13 (Miss. 1994).

Judge Thompson's original Order resolved the first two elements, leaving the third element for adjudication at Teresa's second hearing. The law in this state on worker's compensation claims is that even though the testimony may be somewhat ambiguous as to causal connection all that is necessary is that the medical findings support a causal connection. Moore v. Ind. Life and Accid. Inc., Co., 788 So. 2d. 106, 112 (Miss. 2001).

Once a compensable injury is proven under workers' compensation law, the employer can "rebut only with evidence that rises above mere speculation or possibility." Spencer v. Tyson Foods, 869 So. 2d 1069, 1075 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004)

Medical evidence is to be given liberal construction, with doubtful cases resolved in favor of compensation, and the Commission is called upon to apply "common knowledge, common experience and common sense", when weighing the evidence. <u>Janssen Pharmaceutical</u>, <u>Inc. v. Stuart</u>, 856 So. 2d. 431 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

Unless common knowledge suffices, medical evidence must prove not only the existence of a disability, but also its causal connection to employment. Bradley and Thompson, Workers'

Compensation Law, §76:53 in 9 Ency. Miss. Law, at 182-184. While medical evidence must support the Teresa's incapacity and its extent, the fact of disability need not be proven entirely by medical evidence. Hall of Miss., Inc. v. Green, 467 So. 2d. 935 (Miss. 1985). The Medical evidence is sufficient if it supports, but does not fully prove, a finding of disability. Id.

The Commission properly analyzed the first issue to find a causal connection between Claimant's work injury, which caused her original L5-S1 disc rupture, and the L5-S1 reherniations and surgeries for same. Dr. Patel's Affidavit and Dr. Vohra's deposition make it clear that Teresa's re-herniations and her second and third back surgeries in 2001 and 2002 are causally related to the 1997 injury. Dr. Patel records that Teresa continuously and consistently complained of severe back pain since 1998. Teresa's complaints of pain documented in Dr. Patel's records verify the disabling nature of Teresa's work injury related back problems at the *same* disc level, both before and after the 1998 surgery. Dr. Patel is Teresa's family doctor whom she has seen extensively since 1998. His abundant documentation of Teresa's problems establishes conclusive proof of the continuous and disabling nature of her back pain since her 1998 surgery by Dr. Clark. Simply, Dr. Patel's records, combined with common sense and common knowledge causally relate the 1997 injury to the subsequent L5-S1 disc ruptures, and to the surgeries performed by Drs. Engelberg and Friedman.

Even Dr. Clark's records support this. After Teresa's first surgery, Dr. Clark noted Teresa was having bilateral problems and her symptoms were not caused by any new injury.

Dr. Vohra expressly related Teresa's 1997 injury to the second and third L5-S1 reherniations. Dr. Vohra testified that statistically 15% of back surgery patients reherniate at the same level. Dr. Vohra's basis for his opinions is that a.) The disk is already degenerated, and b.) The anatomy of that disk at that level is abnormal after surgery which can make that level more

unstable. In short, Dr. Vohra's opinion by itself establishes causal connection. Teresa was operated on the L5-S1 level by Dr. Clark and according to Dr. Vohra that in of itself could make that level unstable. Teresa testified without rebuttal that she did not re-injure herself, and again this would be supported by Dr. Vohra as he stated that almost anything could have caused a reherniation, none of which would have caused her problems had Teresa not had the first back surgery. If Dr. Vohra's testimony had ended there, that would have been enough to establish the requisite causal connection. However, he went even further, and testified that more likely than not the 1997 injury contributed to the two subsequent disk ruptures at the L5-S1 level.

The Appellants seem to take issue with the words used by Dr. Vohra in his deposition testimony. However,

"[t]he compensation process is not a game of say the magic word, in which the rights of injured workers should stand or fall on whether a witness happens to choose a form of words prescribed by court or legislature, ... What counts is the real substance of what the witness intended to convey."

Airtran, Inc. v. Byrd, 953 So. 2d 296, 299 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (Quoting, <u>Dixie Contractors, Inc. v. Ashmore</u>, 349 So. 2d 532, 534 (Miss. 1977)). Thus, the question is "From the *whole* of the doctor's testimony, what is the real substance he stated concerning causal connection." <u>Id</u>. (emphasis added)

Accordingly, the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission had far more than substantial evidence to base its determination that Teresa's second and third L5-S1 disc ruptures were related to her first L5-S1 disc rupture.

The Appellants unsuccessfully rely on the "opinion" of Dr. Engelberg to argue there is no causal connection between the 1997 injury and subsequent medical treatment, including, but not limited to, the L5-S1 surgeries he and Dr. Friedman performed. *However, Dr. Engelberg did* 

not take a stand on the issue. He simply stated that he did not have an opinion. He could not say to a reasonable degree of medical certainty there was a causal relation, but at the same time, he could not say to a reasonable degree of medical certainty there was not a causal relation. His "opinion" (or lack of opinion) is so equivocal as to be utterly useless and without any probative value whatsoever. His noncommittal response cannot be used to rebut Dr. Vohra, who unequivocally relates the 1997 injury to the subsequent L5-S1 re-herniations, which necessitated the medical treatment that Teresa required after Dr. Clark released her.

In a reported decision analogous to the instant case, an unanimous Mississippi Court of Appeals found that a recurrent disc rupture was causally connected to Teresa's initial work injury (and initial disc rupture), where the Claimant's doctor opined that the Claimant's disc reherniation was caused by the initial disc herniation, because, a.) the disc had become weakened after the surgery, b.) in 10-15% of cases an initial herniation leads to recurrent herniation, and c.) a re-herniation can occur in the absence of a specific injury. <u>United Methodist Senior Services v.</u> Ice, 749 So. 2d 1227, 1234 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)

All that must be shown is that the subsequent back problems Teresa encountered after the 1998 surgery were *more likely than not* related to the 1997 injury. A. F. Leis Company v. Harrell, 743 So. 2d 1059, 1061 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) Through the testimony of Teresa, Dr. Vohra and the medical records of Dr. Patel that standard is easily met.

# C. THE LAST INJURIOUS EXPOSURE RULE IS INAPPLICABLE TO THE INSTANT CASE

The Appellants argue that the instant case somehow comes under the last injurious exposure rule. The Court stated this rule as follows: "When a disability develops gradually, or when it comes as the result of a succession of accidents, the insurance carrier covering the risk at

the time of the most recent injury or exposure bearing a causal relation of the disability is usually liable for the entire compensation period." <u>United Methodist Senior Services v. Ice</u>, 749 So. 2d at 1230 (emphasis added).

A review of the facts demonstrates that not only is the last injurious exposure rule inapplicable to the instant case, but that the <u>Ice</u> decision, as well as <u>Cedeno v. Moran Hauling</u>, 769 So. 2d 203 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000), cited by the Appellants actually support the Commission's decision that Teresa is permanently and totally disabled as a direct result of her original work injury, without <u>any</u> subsequent injury or superceding intervening cause, and that therefore, Appellants bear sole liability for Teresa's permanent disability.

In the instant case, Administrative Judge, Linda Thompson, found as a matter of law and fact that Teresa had sustained temporary total disability and a permanent medical 10% impairment to her body as a whole, as a result of her original work injury. Following the first Order of the Administrative Judge, the medical records of Dr. Clark and Dr. Patel thoroughly demonstrate that Teresa remained in significant pain following the first surgery performed by Dr. Clark. The medical records and reports of Dr. Patel and Teresa's unrebutted testimony also demonstrate that she was already under a disability and had been so at the time when she was last employed with the Appellant; moreover, the medical records and reports of her treating physician during the relevant time frame, as well as Teresa's unrebutted testimony, finally demonstrate that she did not experience any new injuries or accidents while employed with "Elemopea." Indeed, Teresa's short lived position with "Elemopea" was sedentary in nature.

"Finally, we note that even if Cedeno had a back problem that he brought with him to his employment at Moran, there is authority that the occurrence of an aggravating injury at Moran had independently contributed to the final disability would give Moran liability for the entire claim."

However, if the Claimant continues to suffer pain while working for the new employer, but there is no incident that independently contributes to the disabling injury, liability does not arise.

This Court recently determined that this was a correct view of the relevant legal principal and adopted them.

...The Supreme Court has not yet made an explicit pronouncement on these principals. Until that Court determines otherwise, these are the controlling rules.

Cedeno v. Moran Hauling, 769 So. 2d at 207, (citing, 4 LARSON WORKMENS' COMPENSATION §95.20, 23 and <u>United Methodist Senior Services v. Ice</u>) (emphasis added). Accordingly, the Appellant/Cross Appellees argument has no merit, and the last injurious exposure rule does not apply to the instant case.

# D. TERESA PATRICK IS PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED WITHIN THE MEANING AND INTENT OF THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION ACT.

The issue of whether a claimant's permanent disability is partial or total is a fact question to be determined from the evidence as a whole, including both medical and lay testimony. McGowan v. Orleans Furn. Inc., 586 So. 2d., 167 (quoting Modern Laundry, Inc. v. Williams, 224 Miss. 174, 179-180, 79 So. 2d. 829, 832 (1955)). A "claimant is competent to prove his own claim and his testimony may be accepted without corroboration." Penrod Drilling Co. v. Etheridge, 487 So. 2d. 1330, 1333 (Miss. 1986). The undisputed testimony of a "claimant which is not so unreasonable as to be unbelievable, given the factual setting of the claim, generally ought to be accepted as true." White v. Superior Products, 515 So 2d. 924, 927 (Miss. 1987).

Disability is defined as incapacity due to injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of the injury in the same or other employment. Moore v. Ind. Life and Accid. Inc., Co., 788 So. 2d. 106, 114 (Miss. Ct. App. 1991). "When there is a finding of

permanent partial disability, the claimant bears the burden of making a *prima facie* showing that he has sought and been unable to find work in the same or other employment." (<u>Id.</u>)

"The factors to consider in deciding whether the claimant has made an attempt to find employment (in a *prima facie* case of disability) is:

- 1. Economic and industrial aspects of the local community;
- 2. The jobs available in the community, and;
- 3. The claimant's general education background, including work skills and the particular nature of the disability for which compensation is sought."

(<u>Id.</u>) After the claimant makes out a *prima facie* case of disability, the burden of proof shifts to the employer, and the employer must present evidence that the claimant's efforts to obtain other employment were a sham or less than reasonable. <u>Id.</u>

The testimony of Teresa, Mr. Selby, and even the Appellant's/Cross-Appellees expert, Mr. Stewart establishes permanent and total disability. The medical evidence further establishes that Teresa's 1997 work injury has caused her permanent and total disability.

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